JHEP

Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: August 19, 2015 REVISED: January 11, 2016 ACCEPTED: January 12, 2016 PUBLISHED: January 25, 2016

$\mathrm{U}(1)$ axial symmetry and Dirac spectra in QCD at high temperature

Takuya Kanazawa^a and Naoki Yamamoto^b

^aiTHES Research Group and Quantum Hadron Physics Laboratory, RIKEN, Wako, Saitama 351-0198, Japan

^bDepartment of Physics, Keio University, Yokohama 223-8522, Japan

E-mail: takuya.kanazawa@riken.jp, nyama@rk.phys.keio.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: We derive some exact results concerning the anomalous $U(1)_A$ symmetry in the chirally symmetric phase of QCD at high temperature. We discuss the importance of topology and finite-volume effects on the $U(1)_A$ symmetry violation characterized by the difference of chiral susceptibilities. In particular, we present a reliable method to measure the anomaly strength in lattice simulations with fixed topology. We also derive new spectral sum rules and a novel Banks-Casher-type relation. Through our spectral analysis we arrive at a simple alternative proof of the Aoki-Fukaya-Taniguchi "theorem" on the effective restoration of the $U(1)_A$ symmetry at high temperature.

KEYWORDS: Anomalies in Field and String Theories, Lattice QCD, Quark-Gluon Plasma, Effective field theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 1508.02416

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	$U(1)_A$ anomaly at high temperature	3
3	Topology and finite-volume effect	5
	3.1 Partition function and topological susceptibility	5
	3.2 Chiral susceptibilities and $U(1)_A$ anomaly	7
	3.3 Implications for lattice QCD simulations	11
4	Dirac eigenvalue spectra and $U(1)_A$ anomaly	12
	4.1 Spectral sum rules I: macroscopic limit	12
	4.2 Spectral sum rules II: microscopic limit	14
	4.3 New Banks-Casher-type relation	15
5	Comment on the Aoki-Fukaya-Taniguchi theorem	18
6	Conclusions	21
\mathbf{A}	Tensor decomposition of anomalous correlators at finite temperature	21
в	Another microscopic scaling	22
С	Derivation of (4.19)	23

1 Introduction

The physics of the U(1) axial symmetry in quantum chromodynamics (QCD) has been a subject of intensive research over many years. While the QCD Lagrangian is invariant under $U(N_f)_R \times U(N_f)_L$ at the classical level, the $U(1)_A$ symmetry is broken by quantum effects [1] (see (2.1)). In fact, experimentally observed hadron spectra in the vacuum do not fully respect the $U(N_f)_R \times U(N_f)_L$ symmetry: the η' meson concerning the $U(1)_A$ symmetry is much heavier than the other pseudoscalar mesons associated with chiral symmetry breaking. This $U(1)_A$ problem was resolved [2, 3] through the discovery of nonperturbative topological excitations in the Euclidean spacetime, called instantons.

Recently, much attention has been focused on another "U(1)_A puzzle" in QCD at $T > T_c$, where T_c is the (pseudo)critical temperature of the chiral transition. Namely, even though the U(1)_A anomaly relation (2.1) itself does not receive any modification at

finite temperature [4],¹ the U(1)_A symmetry could be *effectively* restored at the level of mesonic two-point (or higher-point) correlation functions [5]. This problem is of particular interest due to the role played by the axial anomaly in determining the order of chiral phase transition [6]. It was claimed by Cohen [7] that massless two-flavor QCD at $T > T_c$ should be effectively symmetric under U(1)_A in the sense that two-point correlators in the π , σ , δ , and η channels become all degenerate. This work was soon followed by counterarguments [8, 9]. Later it was recognized by Laine and Vepsäläinen [10] that the U(1)_A violation in the flavor-singlet (axial) vector channel can be shown rigorously at least for high enough temperatures without any assumptions. This conclusion qualitatively agrees with [11] that shows U(1)_A violation at high temperatures by calculating a nonzero splitting of scalar and pseudoscalar screening masses using a semiclassical dilute instanton gas picture [12]. More recently, Aoki et al. [13] claimed to have shown the effective restoration of the U(1)_A symmetry rigorously under certain assumptions, although the validity of their assumptions appears to be nontrivial and subtle (see section 5).

Alongside these theoretical studies, the $U(1)_A$ problem at finite temperature has also been studied intensively in first-principles lattice QCD simulations [14, 15], but a consensus is not reached yet: effective restoration of the $U(1)_A$ symmetry was reported in simulations with overlap fermions [16] and domain-wall fermions [17–20], whereas a violation of the $U(1)_A$ symmetry was reported in simulations using staggered fermions [21–24] and domainwall fermions [25].² We warn that some of the simulations [17, 21–25] were performed for 2 + 1 flavors; the effect of a heavier strange quark on the possible $U(1)_A$ violation in the light-quark sector is not completely clear yet.

In this paper, we do not try to solve this $U(1)_A$ puzzle at finite temperature. Rather, we derive some rigorous results involving the $U(1)_A$ symmetry in high-temperature QCD, assuming that the $U(1)_A$ symmetry is violated. (Since the $U(1)_A$ violation must be present at least for high enough temperatures [10, 11], we consider its presence at all $T > T_c$ to be quite plausible.) We first derive general expressions for chiral susceptibilities and the topological susceptibility at $T > T_c$ using the method of [15, 26]. They are used to highlight that, while the majority of the $U(1)_A$ violation at small volume comes from exact (topological) zero modes, the dominant contribution at *large* volume comes from nonzero modes. We estimate finite-volume effects suffered by lattice QCD simulations with fixed topology, and propose a way to measure the $U(1)_A$ -violating effects reliably in a finite volume. Furthermore, we rigorously derive new sum rules and a new Banks-Casher-type relation for the Dirac eigenvalue spectra at $T > T_c$. This relation provides a link between the connected two-point correlation function of Dirac eigenvalues and the $U(1)_A$ anomaly. As a by-product of our spectral analysis, we find a remarkably simple proof of the Aoki-Fukaya-Taniguchi "theorem" on the effective restoration of the $U(1)_A$ symmetry at high temperature, under the same assumptions as in [13]. It should be emphasized that all

¹We noticed that the tensor decomposition of the anomalous correlation function at finite temperature in [4] is incomplete, and that many more terms need to be included; see appendix A. This does not, however, affect the conclusion of [4] that the anomaly relation (2.1) remains unchanged at finite temperature.

 $^{^{2}}$ In [24] the overlap Dirac operator was used to probe the Dirac spectra while configurations were generated with improved staggered fermions.

our results are based on a systematic analysis of QCD. We expect that testing our exact relations and proposal in future lattice simulations should be a useful step towards the resolution of the $U(1)_A$ puzzle at finite temperature.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we review the argument of [10] for $U(1)_A$ violation at high temperature. In section 3, we discuss the importance of topology and finite-volume effects on the breaking of the $U(1)_A$ symmetry, as well as its implication for lattice QCD simulations. In section 4, we derive new spectral sum rules and a Banks-Casher-type relation for Dirac spectra concerning the $U(1)_A$ anomaly. In section 5, we comment on the Aoki-Fukaya-Taniguchi "theorem" in [13]. Section 6 contains our conclusions.

In appendix A, we point out and correct the deficiency in the tensor decomposition of the anomalous correlation function in QCD at finite temperature studied by Itoyama and Mueller [4]. In appendix B, we discuss the microscopic scaling that is different from (4.12) in the main text. In appendix C we derive (4.19) in the main text. Throughout this paper, we will work on QCD with quarks in the fundamental representation of the gauge group SU(3).

2 $U(1)_A$ anomaly at high temperature

In this section we review an argument for the $U(1)_A$ anomaly in massless QCD at high temperature, given by Laine and Vepsäläinen [10].³ Their argument is based on the anomaly relation

$$\partial_{\mu}j^{A\mu} = \frac{N_f g^2}{32\pi^2} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\mu\nu} G^a_{\alpha\beta} G^a_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.1}$$

for the axial current $j^{A\mu} = \overline{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} \gamma^5 \psi$, and the Debye screening of the gauge fields at high temperature. Here N_f is the number of flavors, g is the QCD coupling constant and $G^a_{\mu\nu}$ is the gluon field strength with a being the color index.

Let us work in Euclidean spacetime with the imaginary time $\tau = it \in [0, \beta]$ and a spatial box of size $L_1 \times L_2 \times L_3$. We assume that both quarks and gauge fields obey periodic boundary conditions in spatial directions, whilst quarks (gauge fields) obey the anti-periodic (periodic) boundary condition in the temporal direction. As our interest is in the screening of gauge fields, we shall consider a spatial correlation function. Without loss of generality we choose a spatial separation in the x_3 direction. Then, for the axial "charge" (integrated over the volume transverse to the x_3 axis)

$$Q_3^A(x_3) \equiv \int \mathrm{d}\tau \,\mathrm{d}^2 \boldsymbol{x}_\perp \, j_3^A \,, \tag{2.2}$$

one can show that $\langle Q_3^A(x_3)Q_3^A(y_3)\rangle = 0$ in the thermodynamic limit if the axial symmetry is effectively restored, and $\langle Q_3^A(x_3)Q_3^A(y_3)\rangle \neq 0$ if it is broken. Here $\langle \ldots \rangle$ is a statistical average, and the coordinates x_3 and y_3 are entirely arbitrary. The fact that $\langle Q_3(x_3)Q_3(y_3)\rangle = 0$ when U(1)_A is unbroken may be shown in two steps as follows. Suppose we add a constant external field *a* that couples to the axial charge Q_3^A . Then the action acquires an additional

³We thank M. Laine for explaining the logic of [10] in detail.

contribution $\delta S = a \int dx_3 Q_3^A(x_3)$. This leads to the susceptibility

$$\chi^{A} = \frac{1}{V_{4}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial a^{2}} \log Z(a) \Big|_{a=0} = \frac{1}{V_{4}} \left\langle \int \mathrm{d}x_{3} \ Q_{3}^{A}(x_{3}) \int \mathrm{d}y_{3} \ Q_{3}^{A}(y_{3}) \right\rangle$$
(2.3)

$$= \frac{1}{\beta L_1 L_2} \int \mathrm{d}x_3 \left\langle Q_3^A(x_3) Q_3^A(0) \right\rangle, \tag{2.4}$$

where $V_4 = \beta L_1 L_2 L_3$ is the total volume of spacetime. As $U(1)_A$ is conserved by assumption, χ^A must be finite in the thermodynamic limit; hence $\chi^A < \infty$ as $L_3 \to \infty$. This completes the first step of the proof.

In the second step, we use the fact that $Q_3^A(x_3)$ is independent of x_3 . Actually, this is a direct consequence of the (assumed) conservation of the axial current:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x_3} Q_3^A(x_3) = \int \mathrm{d}\tau \,\mathrm{d}^2 \boldsymbol{x}_\perp \,\partial_3 j_3^A \tag{2.5}$$

$$= -\int \mathrm{d}\tau \,\mathrm{d}^2 \boldsymbol{x}_{\perp} \left(\partial_0 j_0^A + \nabla_{\perp} \cdot j_{\perp}^A\right) = 0\,, \qquad (2.6)$$

where the last step follows from the boundary conditions for fields. Note that (2.6) holds rigorously in a finite volume. Then it is clear that we must have

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x_3} \left\langle Q_3^A(x_3) Q_3^A(0) \right\rangle = \left\langle \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x_3} Q_3^A(x_3) Q_3^A(0) \right\rangle = 0.$$
 (2.7)

Combining (2.7) with the finiteness of χ^A in the limit $L_3 \to \infty$, we conclude that $\langle Q_3^A(x_3)Q_3^A(0)\rangle$ must vanish in the thermodynamic limit for an arbitrary x_3 . This completes the second step of the proof.

Next, recall that the anomaly relation (2.1) can be rewritten as a total derivative,

$$\partial_{\mu} j^{A}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} K_{\mu}, \qquad K_{\mu} = \frac{N_{f} g^{2}}{8\pi^{2}} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \left(A^{a}_{\nu} \partial_{\lambda} A^{a}_{\rho} + \frac{g}{3} f^{abc} A^{a}_{\nu} A^{b}_{\lambda} A^{c}_{\rho} \right).$$
(2.8)

In terms of this K_{μ} , the so-called Chern-Simons charge reads as

$$Q_3^{\rm CS}(x_3) \equiv \int \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}^2 \boldsymbol{x}_\perp \, K_3 \,. \tag{2.9}$$

Because the gauge fields are Debye screened at high temperature, the correlation of Q_3^{CS} should decay exponentially:

$$\langle Q_3^{\rm CS}(x_3) Q_3^{\rm CS}(y_3) \rangle \sim e^{-|x_3 - y_3|/\xi}$$
 (2.10)

at $|x_3 - y_3| \gg \xi$, where ξ is the correlation length (or the inverse Debye mass); $\xi^{-1} \approx gT$ at leading order in g. Although the correlator (2.10) may appear to vanish trivially due to the non-gauge-invariance of Q_3^{CS} , this is not necessarily true. As Q_3^{CS} is gauge invariant up to surface terms, it becomes gauge invariant and its correlator becomes nonzero once we fix boundary conditions for the gauge fields. Since Q_3^A and Q_3^{CS} have the same quantum numbers, Q_3^{CS} contributes to the correlator of Q_3^A . Hence we expect

$$\langle Q_3^A(x_3)Q_3^A(y_3)\rangle \propto \langle Q_3^{\rm CS}(x_3)Q_3^{\rm CS}(y_3)\rangle \sim e^{-|x_3-y_3|/\xi}$$
 (2.11)

This shows that $\langle Q_3^A(x_3)Q_3^A(y_3)\rangle$ cannot be a constant as a function of x_3 , indicating that the U(1)_A symmetry is certainly violated at the level of correlation functions of quark bilinears in QCD at sufficiently high temperature.

It would then be quite natural to expect, by continuity, that the $U(1)_A$ symmetry be violated at any $T > T_c$. In the following, we shall assume $U(1)_A$ violation for $T > T_c$ in the thermodynamic limit and pursue its consequences in detail.

3 Topology and finite-volume effect

In this section we write down the most general QCD partition function for $T > T_c$ in terms of quark masses and derive general expressions for the chiral susceptibilities and topological susceptibility based on the method of [15, 26]. Our arguments here are based on symmetries of QCD and a systematic expansion in terms of a small parameter $m/T \ll 1$, and are fully under theoretical control. We then elucidate the contributions of topology and finite-volume effects to the violation of the U(1)_A symmetry (characterized by the difference of two-point functions $\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}$ to be defined below), and discuss possible implications for lattice QCD simulations. For definiteness, we will concentrate on two-flavor QCD below.

3.1 Partition function and topological susceptibility

We consider the partition function of two-flavor QCD at finite temperature as a function of quark masses $m_{u,d}$. Since there are no massless modes at $T > T_c$ in the chiral limit,⁴ the free energy density should be *analytic* in quark mass.⁵

To write down the general form of the free energy, we consider a generic quark mass matrix M (= 2 × 2 matrix in the flavor space) and let M transform under the symmetry, $\mathcal{G} \equiv \mathrm{SU}(2)_R \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{U}(1)_A$, so that the quark mass term in the QCD Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{mass}} = \psi_L^{\dagger} M \psi_R + \text{h.c.}$$
(3.1)

is invariant under \mathcal{G} . Here $\psi_{R,L}$ are the right- and left-handed quarks, which transform under \mathcal{G} as $\psi_R \to e^{i\theta_A} V_R \psi_R$ and $\psi_L \to e^{-i\theta_A} V_L \psi_L$, respectively, where θ_A is a U(1)_A rotation angle and $V_{R,L} \in SU_{R,L}(2)$. It then follows that M should transform as $M \to e^{-2i\theta_A} V_L M V_R^{\dagger}$.

Noting that the free energy density at $T > T_c$ is invariant under the restored $SU(2)_R \times SU(2)_L$ chiral symmetry but *not* under the $U(1)_A$ symmetry, the partition function of

⁴In the imaginary-time formalism, contributions of massless quarks is infrared (IR) finite because the lowest Matsubara frequency for fermions $\sim \pi T$ acts as an effective IR cutoff.

⁵It should be stressed that analyticity of the partition function breaks down if the zero-temperature part is thrown away. For example, in a non-interacting theory the free energy of quarks after subtraction of the zero-temperature part includes a term ~ $m^4 \log(m/\pi T)$ [27], which is not analytic in m.

QCD in a spatial volume V_3 can be expanded in terms of a small parameter $m_{u,d}/T \ll 1$ as [15, 26]

$$Z(T, V_3, M) = \exp\left[-\frac{V_3}{T}f(T, V_3, M)\right],$$
(3.2)

$$f(T, V_3, M) = f_0 - f_2 \operatorname{tr} M^{\dagger} M - f_A(\det M + \det M^{\dagger}) + \mathcal{O}(M^4), \qquad (3.3)$$

where f_0, f_2 and f_A are functions of T and V_3 . We assume that this expansion has a nonzero radius of convergence. The term $\propto f_A$ represents the effect of axial anomaly: for a U(1)_A rotation $\psi \to e^{i\gamma_5\theta_A}\psi$, this term transforms as det $M \to e^{4i\theta_A} \det M$, so it breaks U(1)_A down to \mathbb{Z}_4 . The absence of $\mathcal{O}(M)$ terms is consistent with the vanishing chiral condensate in the chiral limit for $T > T_c$. In the following we will disregard the $\mathcal{O}(M^4)$ terms in the free energy as they are suppressed by additional powers of $m_{u,d}/T \ll 1$. Since the partition function (3.2) is obtained with a systematic expansion, this will be called the "effective theory" in this paper (although there is no dynamical field in it).

We now turn to the study of topological sectors. As is well known, the θ angle can be incorporated into the partition function via $M \to M e^{i\theta/N_f}$ [28], where $N_f = 2$ is of our interest here. Then the partition function in a sector of given topological charge

$$Q \equiv \frac{g^2}{32\pi^2} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \, G^a_{\mu\nu} \tilde{G}^a_{\mu\nu} \tag{3.4}$$

is obtained, from (3.3), as

$$Z_Q(T, V_3, M) \equiv \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{2\pi} \,\mathrm{e}^{-iQ\theta} \,Z(T, V_3, M \mathrm{e}^{i\theta/2}). \tag{3.5}$$

$$= \mathrm{e}^{-V_4[f_0 - f_2(m_u^2 + m_d^2)]} \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}\theta}{2\pi} \,\mathrm{e}^{-iQ\theta} \,\mathrm{e}^{2V_4 f_A m_u m_d \cos\theta} \tag{3.6}$$

$$= e^{-V_4[f_0 - f_2(m_u^2 + m_d^2)]} I_Q(2V_4 f_A m_u m_d), \qquad (3.7)$$

where $V_4 \equiv V_3/T$ is the spacetime volume, I_Q is the modified Bessel function of Q-th order, and $M = \text{diag}(m_u, m_d)$ was substituted. Intriguingly, the probability distribution of Q is proportional to I_Q in one-flavor QCD, too [28].⁶

The Taylor expansion of (3.7) in powers of quark masses starts with $(V_4 f_A m_u m_d)^{|Q|}$, which is the contribution of exact zero modes. Hence the topological sectors with $Q \neq 0$ will all drop out in the chiral limit if V_4 is finite. By contrast, topological fluctuations will not be suppressed at all even near the chiral limit if V_4 is sufficiently large. This subtle balance between topology and volume has an important practical consequence for lattice simulations, as we will discuss shortly.

An important quantity that characterizes topological fluctuations is the mean square of the topological charge at $\theta = 0$,

$$\langle Q^2 \rangle = \sum_{Q=-\infty}^{\infty} Q^2 \frac{Z_Q}{Z} = 2V_4 f_A m_u m_d \,, \tag{3.8}$$

⁶An analogous toy model was also studied in [29, appendix A].

where (3.7) was used. The topological susceptibility is then given [15, 26] by

$$\chi_{\rm top} \equiv \frac{\langle Q^2 \rangle}{V_4} = 2f_A m_u m_d. \tag{3.9}$$

Alternatively, one can reach (3.9) by considering that, with the replacement $M \to M e^{i\theta/2}$ in (3.3), the θ -dependence of the free energy reads

$$f(\theta) = \tilde{f} - 2f_A m_u m_d \cos \theta + \mathcal{O}(m^4), \qquad (3.10)$$

where $\tilde{f} \equiv f_0 - f_2(m_u^2 + m_d^2)$ is the term independent of θ . The topological susceptibility is then

$$\chi_{\rm top} \equiv \left. \frac{\partial^2 f(\theta)}{\partial \theta^2} \right|_{\theta=0} = 2 f_A m_u m_d \,, \tag{3.11}$$

which is the same as (3.9). Note that our result, obtained assuming $f_A \neq 0$, does not agree with the result by Aoki et al. [13] that $\langle Q^2 \rangle / V_3 \to 0$ as $V_3 \to \infty$ for a small but nonzero m.

The topological susceptibility here should be contrasted with that of the QCD vacuum,

$$\frac{\langle Q^2 \rangle}{V_4} = \Sigma (m_u^{-1} + m_d^{-1})^{-1} \tag{3.12}$$

with Σ being the magnitude of the chiral condensate [28]. This difference can be understood in the following way. In the presence of chiral symmetry breaking, the quark mass dependence of the free energy can be expanded in terms of the quark mass as

$$f = f_0 - \Sigma[\operatorname{tr}(MU^{\dagger}) + \operatorname{tr}(M^{\dagger}U)] + \mathcal{O}(M^2), \qquad (3.13)$$

where U denotes the SU(2) Nambu-Goldstone field associated with spontaneous chiral symmetry breaking. The topological susceptibility is dominated by the second term in (3.13) and is given by (3.12), with the higher order contributions being $\mathcal{O}(M^2)$. When chiral symmetry is restored ($\Sigma = 0$), on the other hand, the leading contribution to the topological susceptibility is $\mathcal{O}(M^2)$ and is given by (3.9). The behavior $\chi_{\text{top}} \propto m_u m_d$ is also found in the 2SC phase of dense QCD for the same reason [30].

From the partition function (3.3), higher moments of Q can also be derived [26] as

$$\langle Q^2 \rangle = \mathcal{A},\tag{3.14a}$$

$$\langle Q^4 \rangle = \mathcal{A}(1+3\mathcal{A}), \tag{3.14b}$$

$$\langle Q^6 \rangle = \mathcal{A}(1 + 15\mathcal{A} + 15\mathcal{A}^2), \qquad (3.14c)$$

$$\langle Q^8 \rangle = \mathcal{A}(1 + 63\mathcal{A} + 210\mathcal{A}^2 + 105\mathcal{A}^3),$$
 (3.14d)

with $\mathcal{A} \equiv 2V_4 f_A m_u m_d$, while all odd moments vanish.

3.2 Chiral susceptibilities and $U(1)_A$ anomaly

We now turn to two-point correlation functions of quark bilinears (also called chiral susceptibilities). The utility of chiral susceptibilities in two-flavor QCD as a convenient probe for the $U(1)_A$ anomaly has been advocated long time ago [5, 7], and nowadays they are measured in lattice simulations with dynamical quarks [16, 17, 25]. It is therefore of primary interest to relate these susceptibilities to the coefficients f_0 , f_2 and f_A of the effective theory (3.3) [15]. In this paper we will work with the following definitions for chiral susceptibilities:

$$\chi_{\sigma} \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \left[\langle \overline{\psi} \psi(x) \overline{\psi} \psi(0) \rangle - \langle \overline{\psi} \psi \rangle^2 \right], \qquad (3.15a)$$

$$\chi_{\pi} \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \left[\langle \overline{\psi} i \gamma_5 \tau_3 \psi(x) \overline{\psi} i \gamma_5 \tau_3 \psi(0) \rangle - \langle \overline{\psi} i \gamma_5 \tau_3 \psi \rangle^2 \right], \qquad (3.15b)$$

$$\chi_{\delta} \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \left[\langle \overline{\psi} \tau_3 \psi(x) \overline{\psi} \tau_3 \psi(0) \rangle - \langle \overline{\psi} \tau_3 \psi \rangle^2 \right], \qquad (3.15c)$$

$$\chi_{\eta} \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \Big[\langle \overline{\psi} i \gamma_5 \psi(x) \overline{\psi} i \gamma_5 \psi(0) \rangle - \langle \overline{\psi} i \gamma_5 \psi \rangle^2 \Big] \,, \tag{3.15d}$$

where $\overline{\psi}\psi = \overline{u}u + \overline{d}d$ and $\overline{\psi}i\gamma_5\psi = \overline{u}i\gamma_5u + \overline{d}i\gamma_5d$ in our notation, and τ_3 is the third Pauli matrix. Note that these definitions do not necessarily coincide with those in the literature.

Inserting $M = \text{diag}(m_u, m_d)$ into $f(T, V_3, M)$, we obtain

$$\chi_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{V_4} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial m_u^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial m_d^2} + 2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial m_u \partial m_d} \right) \log Z = 4f_2 + 4f_A \tag{3.16}$$

$$\chi_{\delta} = \frac{1}{V_4} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial m_u^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial m_d^2} - 2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial m_u \partial m_d} \right) \log Z = 4f_2 - 4f_A \tag{3.17}$$

up to $\mathcal{O}(m^2)$ corrections. Similarly, inserting $M = \text{diag}(m_u + ib, m_d - ib)$ into $f(T, V_3, M)$ we find

$$\chi_{\pi} = \frac{1}{V_4} \left[\frac{1}{Z} \frac{\partial^2 Z}{\partial b^2} \Big|_{b=0} - \left(\frac{1}{Z} \frac{\partial Z}{\partial b} \Big|_{b=0} \right)^2 \right] = 4f_2 + 4f_A.$$
(3.18)

In the same way one can also show $\chi_{\eta} = 4f_2 - 4f_A$. The equality $\chi_{\sigma} = \chi_{\pi}$, as well as $\chi_{\delta} = \chi_{\eta}$, is a direct consequence of the restored $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_L$ chiral symmetry.

The axial anomaly manifests itself in the difference [15]

$$\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta} = 8f_A + \mathcal{O}(M^2), \qquad (3.19)$$

where the correction is displayed for completeness. Practically, the correlators of π and δ are most convenient in lattice simulations, because they have no disconnected components (for degenerate masses). Note that, if one wishes, it is entirely straightforward to extend the calculation for (3.19) to higher orders by including U(1)_A-violating terms such as $(\det M)^2$ and $(\operatorname{tr} MM^{\dagger})(\det M)$ in the free energy (3.3). However this is not expected to bring about quantitative differences when $M/T \ll 1$.

In [11], the two-point correlators $\langle \pi(x)\pi(0) \rangle$ and $\langle \delta(x)\delta(0) \rangle$ (rather than their spatial integrals, χ_{π} and χ_{δ}) were calculated directly in high-temperature QCD by using the 't Hooft vertex of instantons. They found that the difference of the two correlators decreases at high temperature but does *not* vanish exactly, in agreement with the general argument presented in section 2.

It was emphasized in [8, 9] that the dominant contribution to $\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}$ comes from exact zero modes in the $Q = \pm 1$ sector. A more recent paper [13] argues to the contrary that contributions of exact zero modes is suppressed in the thermodynamic limit. In what follows we aim to clarify this issue.

Let us first decompose the anomalous contribution (3.19) into contributions from each topological sector. We assume $\theta = 0$ in the following. Since the second terms in (3.15b) and (3.15c) vanish for degenerate masses, it follows that

$$\lim_{m_{u,d}\to m} (\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}) = \int \mathrm{d}^{4}x \Big[\langle \overline{\psi} i \gamma_{5} \tau_{3} \psi(x) \overline{\psi} i \gamma_{5} \tau_{3} \psi(0) \rangle - \langle \overline{\psi} \tau_{3} \psi(x) \overline{\psi} \tau_{3} \psi(0) \rangle \Big]$$
$$= \frac{1}{V_{4}} \left(\frac{1}{Z} \frac{\partial^{2} Z}{\partial b^{2}} \Big|_{b=0} - \frac{1}{Z} \frac{\partial^{2} Z}{\partial c^{2}} \Big|_{c=0} \right)$$
(3.20)

$$\equiv \sum_{Q=-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{Z_Q}{Z} P_Q , \qquad (3.21)$$

where it is tacitly assumed in (3.20) that the first term is evaluated for M = diag(m + ib, m - ib) and the second term for M = diag(m + c, m - c). In (3.21) we defined the contribution P_Q from the sector of topological charge Q as

$$P_Q \equiv \frac{1}{V_4} \left(\frac{1}{Z_Q} \frac{\partial^2 Z_Q}{\partial b^2} \Big|_{b=0} - \frac{1}{Z_Q} \frac{\partial^2 Z_Q}{\partial c^2} \Big|_{c=0} \right)$$
(3.22)

$$= \left[4f_2 + 4f_A \frac{I'_Q(2V_4 f_A m^2)}{I_Q(2V_4 f_A m^2)}\right] - \left[4f_2 - 4f_A \frac{I'_Q(2V_4 f_A m^2)}{I_Q(2V_4 f_A m^2)}\right]$$
(3.23)

$$=8f_A \frac{I'_Q(2V_4 f_A m^2)}{I_Q(2V_4 f_A m^2)}.$$
(3.24)

Using the identity $I'_Q(x) = \frac{Q}{x}I_Q(x) + I_{Q+1}(x)$ or $I'_Q(x) = -\frac{Q}{x}I_Q(x) + I_{Q-1}(x)$ depending on the sign of Q, one may cast P_Q into a suggestive form

$$P_Q = \begin{cases} \frac{4}{V_4 m^2} Q + 8f_A \frac{I_{Q+1}(2V_4 f_A m^2)}{I_Q(2V_4 f_A m^2)} & \text{for } Q \ge 0, \\ \frac{4}{V_4 m^2} |Q| + 8f_A \frac{I_{Q-1}(2V_4 f_A m^2)}{I_Q(2V_4 f_A m^2)} & \text{for } Q < 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.25)

The first terms in (3.25) are the contributions from exact zero modes. This can be easily seen by plugging $Z_Q \propto (m^2 + b^2)^{|Q|}$ and $Z_Q \propto (m^2 - c^2)^{|Q|}$ into the first and the second terms in (3.22), respectively. Therefore the U(1)_A-violating contribution (3.21) may be split into the zero-mode fraction⁷ and the nonzero-mode fraction as

$$\lim_{m_{u,d} \to m} (\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}) = 8f_A(S_z + S_{nz}), \qquad (3.26)$$

⁷It is intriguing that (3.27) below has exactly the same form as the fraction of zero modes for the chiral condensate in one-flavor QCD [28, eq. (7.3)], under the identification $2V_4 f_A m^2 \leftrightarrow V_4 \Sigma m$.



Figure 1. Relative contributions of zero and nonzero Dirac eigenmodes to $\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}$ as a function of $x \equiv 2V_4 f_A m^2$.

where

$$S_{z} \equiv \frac{1}{8f_{A}} \left(2\sum_{Q=1}^{\infty} \frac{Z_{Q}}{Z} \frac{4}{V_{4}m^{2}}Q \right) = e^{-2V_{4}f_{A}m^{2}} \left[I_{0}(2V_{4}f_{A}m^{2}) + I_{1}(2V_{4}f_{A}m^{2}) \right], \quad (3.27)$$

$$S_{\rm nz} = 1 - S_{\rm z} \,.$$
 (3.28)

In addition, the contribution of the $Q = \pm 1$ sectors to S_z is defined as

$$S_{\pm 1} \equiv \frac{1}{8f_A} \left(2\frac{Z_1}{Z} \frac{4}{V_4 m^2} \right) = \frac{1}{V_4 f_A m^2} e^{-2V_4 f_A m^2} I_1(2V_4 f_A m^2).$$
(3.29)

The quantities S_z , S_{nz} and $S_{\pm 1}$ are plotted in figure 1 as functions of $x \equiv 2V_4 f_A m^2$.

We observe that, in a small volume or near the chiral limit $(x \ll 1)$, $\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}$ is dominated by the contribution of exact zero modes in the $Q = \pm 1$ sector, as argued in [8, 9]. By contrast, if we take the thermodynamic limit $(x \gg 1)$, the contribution of nonzero modes dominates, and the exact zero modes are completely *irrelevant*. This can be understood from (3.8): since $\langle Q^2 \rangle \sim V_4 f_A m^2$, one naturally expects $\langle |Q| \rangle = \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{V_4})$, implying that the first term in (3.25) is suppressed in a large volume.⁸ On the other hand, the second term in (3.25) tends to $8f_A$, which is the same value as in the full theory (3.19). This means that the anomaly $(f_A \neq 0)$ in the thermodynamic limit must be attributed to *nonzero* Dirac eigenmodes. The $Q = \pm 1$ sector does not play a distinguished role. Indeed, one can show for $x \gg 1$ that Z_Q/Z obeys a Gaussian distribution (see also [28]), according to which $Z_Q/Z \sim 1/\sqrt{V_4 f_A m^2}$ for $|Q| \lesssim \sqrt{V_4 f_A m^2}$ and is suppressed otherwise. Therefore, if the volume is sufficiently large with a fixed nonzero mass, all contributions to $\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}$ from the sectors with $|Q| \lesssim \sqrt{V_4 f_A m^2}$ are equally important, in contradistinction to the finite-volume regime $(x \lesssim 1)$ where only the $Q = \pm 1$ sectors contribute to $\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}$.

To avoid confusion, we stress that the total amount of $\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}$ is equal to $8f_A$ irrespective of the value of x; the order-of-limit issue does not arise, of course, because there

⁸In this inspection, the positivity of the path-integral measure plays an essential role. We note that the suppression of exact zero modes does not hold in general for negative or complex masses [28, 31, 32].



Figure 2. The magnitude of $(\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta})|_{Q=0}$ normalized by $(\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta})|_{\text{full}}$ as a function of $x = 2V_4 f_A m^2$. At large volume $(x \gg 1)$, $I_1(x)/I_0(x) \simeq 1 - \frac{1}{2x}$.

is no long-range-order in QCD above T_c . The reason the exchange of dominance occurs between zero and nonzero modes as we vary the volume is that a long-range correlation is induced once the global topological charge is fixed [28].

3.3 Implications for lattice QCD simulations

We now discuss implications of the above results for lattice QCD simulations. So far the $U(1)_A$ anomaly at high temperature has been thoroughly investigated on the lattice (as reviewed in section 1), but despite efforts, a definitive conclusion on the (non-)restoration of the $U(1)_A$ symmetry is not reached yet. This is not surprising, considering that the physics of $U(1)_A$ anomaly is highly sensitive to the explicit breaking of chiral symmetry by lattice discretization; even domain-wall fermions have serious problems, as pointed out in [20]. In this regard, the most reliable simulations are those in [16] employing dynamical overlap fermions. They reported restoration of the $U(1)_A$ symmetry based on simulations with a fixed global topological charge (Q = 0). They also evaluated possible finite-size effects associated with the topology fixing, by using the formalism developed in [29, 33]. Here we wish to revisit this issue based on our effective-theory framework.

It follows from (3.21) that in the topologically trivial sector (Q = 0) we have

$$\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta} = 8f_A \frac{I_1(2V_4 f_A m^2)}{I_0(2V_4 f_A m^2)}.$$
(3.30)

The ratio of (3.30) to $(\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta})|_{\text{full}} = 8f_A$ is plotted in figure 2. It shows that the ratio tends to 0 for small x and obscures the nonzero value in the full theory. This signals a strong finite-volume effect at small x. It seems necessary to ensure at least $x = 2V_4 f_A m^2 \gtrsim 1$ in order to observe a nonzero value of $\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}$ clearly.

Our result so far is rigorous, as long as $f_A \neq 0$ and the $\mathcal{O}(M^4)$ correction to (3.3) can be neglected. At sufficiently high temperature $T \gg T_c$ we may resort to the dilute instanton gas approximation [12], which yields

$$f_A \sim T^2 \,\mathrm{e}^{-8\pi^2/g^2} \sim T^2 (\Lambda/T)^{(11N_c - 2N_f)/3} \propto T^{-23/3}$$
 (3.31)

for $N_c = 3$ and $N_f = 2$. Since it decays so rapidly, it would be a challenging task to achieve a sufficiently large volume that satisfies $2V_4 f_A m^2 \gtrsim 1$ while keeping *m* small. On the other hand, near T_c , the asymptotic formula (3.31) breaks down and we do not exactly know how small f_A is.

One way to extract f_A from a topology-fixed simulation is as follows: if the simulation volume V_4 is not large and hence $V_4 f_A m^2 \leq 1$, then we have, to a good approximation,

$$(\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta})\Big|_{Q=0} \simeq 8V_4 f_A^2 m^2$$
 (3.32)

from (3.30), where we used $I_1(x)/I_0(x) \simeq x/2$ for $x \leq 1$. Therefore in principle one can extract f_A by fitting the lattice data to the formula (3.32). This is a proposal for future lattice simulations with overlap fermions.

4 Dirac eigenvalue spectra and $U(1)_A$ anomaly

In this section we derive new spectral sum rules and a novel Banks-Casher-type relation which link the Dirac spectrum to the violation of the U(1)_A symmetry in high-temperature QCD. We then discuss possible forms of the spectral functions. Throughout this section we will focus on two-flavor QCD. We denote the purely imaginary eigenvalues of the Euclidean Dirac operator $D = \gamma_{\mu}(\partial_{\mu} + igA_{\mu})$ by $\{i\lambda_n\}_n$ with $\lambda_n \in \mathbb{R}$ and define the spectral density for a fixed gauge field A_{μ} in a finite volume as

$$\rho^A(\lambda) \equiv \sum_n \delta(\lambda - \lambda_n) \,. \tag{4.1}$$

Chiral symmetry of the Dirac operator, $\{D, \gamma_5\} = 0$, ensures $\rho^A(\lambda) = \rho^A(-\lambda)$.

4.1 Spectral sum rules I: macroscopic limit

The partition function of two-flavor QCD in the sector of topological charge Q is given by

$$Z_Q = \left\langle \prod_k (i\lambda_k + m_u) \prod_\ell (i\lambda_\ell + m_d) \right\rangle_Q^{\text{YM}},\tag{4.2}$$

where the average is taken with respect to the pure Yang-Mills action, and |Q| exact zero modes are implicitly included in the product. Equating the microscopic partition function (4.2) to that of the effective theory (3.7) and taking their derivatives with respect to m_u and/or m_d , one finds various nontrivial formulas for correlation functions of the Dirac eigenvalues. The simplest one is given by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial m_u} \log Z_Q = \left\langle \sum_n \frac{1}{i\lambda_n + m_u} \right\rangle_Q \tag{4.3}$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \; \frac{\langle \rho^A(\lambda) \rangle_Q}{i\lambda + m_u} \tag{4.4}$$

$$= 2V_4 f_2 m_u + 2V_4 f_A m_d \frac{I'_Q(2V_4 f_A m_u m_d)}{I_Q(2V_4 f_A m_u m_d)} + \mathcal{O}(m^3), \qquad (4.5)$$

with $I'_Q(x) \equiv dI_Q(x)/dx$. Now $\langle \ldots \rangle_Q$ stands for the average with full $N_f = 2$ QCD measure. In the thermodynamic limit, the number of Dirac eigenvalues scales linearly with V_4 , so let us define the one-point function (or the *macroscopic* spectral density) by

$$R_1(\lambda) = \lim_{V_4 \to \infty} \frac{1}{V_4} \left\langle \rho^A(\lambda) \right\rangle_Q , \qquad (4.6)$$

in terms of which (4.5) reads as

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \ \frac{R_1(\lambda)}{i\lambda + m_u} = 2f_2m_u + 2f_Am_d + \mathcal{O}(m^3) \,. \tag{4.7}$$

Note that $R_1(\lambda)$ depends on m_u and m_d implicitly through the QCD measure used for averaging. $R_1(\lambda)$ is expected to have no dependence on Q since topology is irrelevant once the thermodynamic limit is taken. Strictly speaking, we have to specify a UV cutoff scheme in order to make (4.7) fully meaningful. Equation (4.7) will be used later in section 5.

There exists another relation that directly relates $R_1(\lambda)$ to the U(1)_A anomaly [15, 34]. Setting $m_u = m_d \equiv m$ and evaluating the chiral susceptibilities (3.15) in the basis of Dirac eigenstates, one can straightforwardly obtain

$$\chi_{\pi} = 4 \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}\lambda}{\lambda^2 + m^2} R_1(\lambda) \quad \text{and} \quad \chi_{\delta} = 4 \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\lambda \; \frac{\lambda^2 - m^2}{(\lambda^2 + m^2)^2} R_1(\lambda) \,. \tag{4.8}$$

By subtraction we arrive at [15, 34]

$$\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta} = 8 \int_0^\infty d\lambda \; \frac{m^2}{(\lambda^2 + m^2)^2} R_1(\lambda) \,.$$
 (4.9)

Combining this formula with (3.19), we find

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \ \frac{m^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + m^{2})^{2}} R_{1}(\lambda) = f_{A} + \mathcal{O}(m^{2}) \,.$$
(4.10)

It is clear from this relation that small Dirac eigenvalues are necessary for f_A to be nonzero.⁹ Indeed $f_A = 0$ follows immediately if $R_1(\lambda)$ has a spectral gap near zero at $T > T_c$. Equations (4.7), (4.9) and (4.10) highlight essential properties of $R_1(\lambda)$.

Unfortunately the form of $R_1(\lambda)$ in the near-zero region cannot be deduced uniquely from (4.7) and (4.10) alone. Actually there are infinitely many functions that satisfy (4.10); e.g.,

$$R_1(\lambda) \sim \frac{f_A m^{2n+1-k} \lambda^k}{(\lambda^2 + m^2)^n} \quad \text{and} \quad f_A m^2 \delta(\lambda) \,, \tag{4.11}$$

where $n \ge 1$ and $0 \le k \le 2n + 1$ are arbitrary integers. Recently, the Dirac spectrum in two-flavor QCD at $T \gtrsim T_c$ has been studied intensively in lattice QCD simulations [16, 17, 24, 25] (see also [14, 15, 35–39] for early works). The three possibilities $R_1(\lambda) \sim m, \lambda$, and $m^2 \delta(\lambda)$ were examined in detail in [17, 25], whereas the Breit-Wigner form $R_1(\lambda) \sim$

⁹Large eigenvalues with density $R_1(\lambda) \sim \lambda^3$ only affect the $\mathcal{O}(m^2)$ part; f_A receives no contribution.

 $\rho_0 A/(\lambda^2 + A^2)$ was nicely fitted to the lattice data in [24, 40] (but see [19, 20, 41, 42] for detailed investigations of lattice artifacts stemming from partial reweighting). The δ form is motivated by the dilute instanton gas picture [12] in QCD at $T \to \infty$, but the exact δ form is unlikely to emerge at $T \gtrsim T_c$ due to the overlap of neighboring instantons and anti-instantons. For the moment, contrasting results from different simulations do not allow us to draw a definitive conclusion on the form of $R_1(\lambda)$.

4.2 Spectral sum rules II: microscopic limit

There is yet another way to take the thermodynamic limit in (4.5): if we let all of λ , m_u and m_d scale as $1/\sqrt{V_4 f_A}$ in the $V_4 \to \infty$ limit, the dependence on the topology does persist. To see this, let us define a rescaled dimensionless spectral density

$$\rho_Q(\zeta;\mu_u,\mu_d) \equiv \lim_{V_4 \to \infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2V_4 f_A}} \left\langle \rho^A \left(\frac{\zeta}{\sqrt{2V_4 f_A}}\right) \Big|_{m_u = \frac{\mu_u}{\sqrt{2V_4 f_A}}, \ m_d = \frac{\mu_d}{\sqrt{2V_4 f_A}}} \right\rangle_Q, \tag{4.12}$$

which is analogous to the microscopic spectral density in the ε -regime [28, 43] but note that the relevant scale of eigenvalues here is $1/\sqrt{V_4}$ rather than $1/V_4$.¹⁰ Then (4.5) becomes

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta \ \frac{1}{i\zeta + \mu_u} \rho_Q(\zeta; \mu_u, \mu_d) = \frac{f_2}{f_A} \mu_u + \mu_d \frac{I'_Q(\mu_u \mu_d)}{I_Q(\mu_u \mu_d)}.$$
(4.13)

Notice that all $\mathcal{O}(m^3)$ corrections in (4.5) drop out in this limit; hence (4.13) is *exact*. This, of course, comes with a caveat that such a limit is meaningful only when the assumption $f_A \neq 0$ is correct. (See appendix B for another microscopic scaling.) It is straightforward to extend the rescaling (4.12) to higher-order spectral correlation functions.

We conjecture that spectral fluctuations on the scale $1/\sqrt{V_4}$ should be universal, i.e., determined solely by global symmetries and independent of the detailed form of QCD interactions in the ultraviolet. Although such a new "microscopic limit" prompts us to construct a random matrix theory that describes the Dirac spectrum in this regime, we have not been successful yet. The difficulty in finding a proper random matrix theory may have something to do with the fact that *no* global symmetry is spontaneously broken at $T > T_c$, unlike in the QCD vacuum [28, 43] and high-density QCD [44, 46, 47].

We can derive infinitely many spectral sum rules rigorously, by expanding the following expression in powers of quark masses,

$$\frac{(m_u m_d)^{-Q} Z_Q}{\lim_{m \to 0} \left[(m_u m_d)^{-Q} Z_Q \right]} = Q! \frac{I_Q (2V_4 f_A m_u m_d)}{(V_4 f_A m_u m_d)^Q} e^{V_4 f_2 (m_u^2 + m_d^2)} = \left\langle \prod_k' \left(1 + \frac{m_u^2}{\lambda_k^2} \right) \prod_\ell' \left(1 + \frac{m_d^2}{\lambda_\ell^2} \right) \right\rangle_Q, \qquad (4.14)$$

¹⁰Intriguingly, a similar unusual scaling ~ $1/\sqrt{V_4}$ also appears in color-superconducting phases of QCD at high density [44, 45], in the superfluid phase of two-color QCD [46, 47] and in an exotic phase proposed by Stern [48–50].

where $Q \ge 0$ is assumed and the product \prod' runs only over $\lambda_n > 0$. The average above is taken for the massless two-flavor QCD measure. Note that both sides of (4.14) are normalized to unity in the chiral limit. Two examples of the sum rules read

$$\left\langle \sum_{k}' \frac{1}{\lambda_k^2} \right\rangle_Q = V_4 f_2 \quad \text{and} \quad \left\langle \sum_{k}' \frac{1}{\lambda_k^4} \right\rangle_Q = \frac{(V_4 f_A)^2}{1+Q}.$$
 (4.15)

 \sum' above denotes a sum over $\lambda_n > 0$. Note that the first sum rule receives UV-divergent contributions from large eigenvalues with density $\propto \lambda^3$, implying that f_2 is a regularizationscheme-dependent quantity. By contrast, the second sum rule is dominated by contributions from $\mathcal{O}(1/\sqrt{V_4})$ eigenvalues. UV eigenvalues only give $\mathcal{O}(V_4)$ correction to the r.h.s., which is negligibly small as compared to the $\mathcal{O}(V_4^2)$ term in the $V_4 \to \infty$ limit. Indeed one can show that f_A is free from UV divergences (see appendix B of [49]). The suppression of the second sum rule for large Q is due to the repulsion of Dirac eigenvalues from the origin by Q exact zero modes.

In terms of the "microscopic" spectral density, the sum rules (4.15) read

$$\int_0^\infty d\zeta \ \frac{\rho_Q(\zeta; 0, 0)}{\zeta^2} = \frac{f_2}{2f_A} , \qquad (4.16a)$$

$$\int_0^\infty d\zeta \ \frac{\rho_Q(\zeta;0,0)}{\zeta^4} = \frac{1}{4(1+Q)} \,. \tag{4.16b}$$

To obtain the universal function $\rho_Q(\zeta; 0, 0)$ analytically is an important open problem that deserves further investigation.

4.3 New Banks-Casher-type relation

If the axial anomaly is present at high temperature, it will be manifested not only in the Dirac eigenvalue density but also in the *n*-point spectral correlation functions for $n \ge 2$. To examine this possibility, let us introduce the *connected two-point correlation function* (see e.g., [51])¹¹

$$R_{\rm C}(\lambda,\lambda') \equiv \lim_{V_4 \to \infty} \frac{1}{V_4} \left[\left\langle \rho^A(\lambda) \rho^A(\lambda') \right\rangle - \left\langle \rho^A(\lambda) \right\rangle \left\langle \rho^A(\lambda') \right\rangle \right].$$
(4.17)

 $R_{\rm C}$ depends on $m_{u,d}$ implicitly through the averaging weight. Note that $R_{\rm C}$ satisfies the constraint

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \ R_{\rm C}(\lambda, \lambda') = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda' \ R_{\rm C}(\lambda, \lambda') = 0.$$
(4.18)

If eigenvalues are entirely uncorrelated, they obey the Poisson statistics. In this case, the two-point function is related to the one-point function (cf. [52, (5.4)] and [53, (3.33)]) as

$$\left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda)\rho^{A}(\lambda')\right\rangle_{\mathrm{Po}} = \left\{\delta(\lambda-\lambda') + \delta(\lambda+\lambda')\right\} \left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda)\right\rangle + \left(1-\frac{1}{N}\right) \left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda)\right\rangle \left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda')\right\rangle, \quad (4.19)$$

¹¹In the rest of this subsection we will ignore topological zero modes altogether. As argued in section 3.2, this is justifiable in the macroscopic limit with a positive path-integral measure.

where N denotes the number of chiral pairs of Dirac eigenvalues $\{\pm i\lambda_n\}$ (hence the total number of eigenvalues is 2N). The δ -functions in first term represent a trivial selfcorrelation. In appendix C we outline the derivation of (4.19) for completeness. Then we obtain for the uncorrelated Dirac spectra

$$R_{\rm C}^{\rm Po}(\lambda,\lambda') = \left\{\delta(\lambda-\lambda') + \delta(\lambda+\lambda')\right\} R_1(\lambda) - \frac{V_4}{N} R_1(\lambda) R_1(\lambda').$$
(4.20)

As N grows linearly with V_4 , V_4/N has a well-defined thermodynamic limit. One can check that (4.20) satisfies (4.18).

Nontrivial two-level correlations among eigenvalues can be characterized by the deviation of $R_{\rm C}$ from the Poisson case. Let us define the *two-point cluster function* $T_2(\lambda, \lambda')$ by

$$T_2(\lambda, \lambda') \equiv R_{\rm C}^{\rm Po}(\lambda, \lambda') - R_{\rm C}(\lambda, \lambda').$$
(4.21)

We observe that $T_2(\lambda, \lambda') = T_2(\lambda', \lambda)$ and

$$T_2(\lambda, \lambda') = T_2(-\lambda, \lambda') = T_2(\lambda, -\lambda') = T_2(-\lambda, -\lambda')$$
(4.22)

owing to chiral symmetry. For the Poisson distribution, T_2 vanishes identically by definition.

To see how $R_{\rm C}$ and T_2 are related to the axial anomaly, we note that (3.16) and (3.17) together with $\chi_{\sigma} = \chi_{\pi}$ imply

$$\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta} = 4\chi_{\text{disc}} = 8f_A + \mathcal{O}(m^2), \qquad (4.23)$$

where χ_{disc} is the disconnected scalar susceptibility defined by

$$\chi_{\text{disc}} \equiv \lim_{V_4 \to \infty} \frac{1}{V_4} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial m_u \partial m_d} \log Z$$

$$= \lim_{V_4 \to \infty} \frac{1}{V_4} \left(\left\langle \sum_i \frac{1}{i\lambda_i + m_u} \sum_j \frac{1}{i\lambda_j + m_d} \right\rangle - \left\langle \sum_k \frac{1}{i\lambda_k + m_u} \right\rangle \left\langle \sum_\ell \frac{1}{i\lambda_\ell + m_d} \right\rangle \right)$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda' \frac{R_{\text{C}}(\lambda, \lambda')}{(i\lambda + m_u)(i\lambda' + m_d)}.$$
(4.24)

In the limit $m_u = m_d = m$, we substitute (4.21) into (4.24), obtaining

$$\chi_{\text{disc}} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \left[\frac{R_1(\lambda)}{(i\lambda+m)^2} + \frac{R_1(\lambda)}{\lambda^2+m^2} \right] - \frac{V_4}{N} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \, \frac{R_1(\lambda)}{i\lambda+m} \right)^2 - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda' \frac{T_2(\lambda,\lambda')}{(i\lambda+m)(i\lambda'+m)}$$
(4.25)

$$= \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}\lambda \; \frac{4m^2}{(\lambda^2 + m^2)^2} R_1(\lambda) - \int_{-\infty}^\infty \mathrm{d}\lambda \int_{-\infty}^\infty \mathrm{d}\lambda' \frac{T_2(\lambda, \lambda')}{(i\lambda + m)(i\lambda' + m)} + \mathcal{O}(m^2) \quad (4.26)$$

$$=4f_A - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda' \frac{T_2(\lambda, \lambda')}{(i\lambda + m)(i\lambda' + m)} + \mathcal{O}(m^2), \qquad (4.27)$$

where (4.7) and (4.10) have been used. Recalling (4.23) we obtain

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda' \frac{T_2(\lambda, \lambda')}{(i\lambda + m)(i\lambda' + m)} = 2f_A + \mathcal{O}(m^2).$$
(4.28)

Finally, taking the chiral limit in (4.28), we arrive at a new Banks-Casher-type relation

$$T_2(0,0) = \frac{2}{\pi^2} f_A \tag{4.29}$$

for massless two-flavor QCD at $T > T_c$. To the best of our knowledge, (4.29) is a new result. It reveals that the U(1)_A anomaly is encoded, not only in the spectral density as in (4.10), but also in the nontrivial two-level correlations among near-zero eigenvalues. If the near-zero Dirac eigenvalues are entirely uncorrelated, then T_2 vanishes and leads to $f_A = 0$, suggesting effective restoration of the U(1)_A symmetry. Whether an analogue of (4.29) can be derived in $N_f > 2$ QCD at $T > T_c$ is an interesting open problem.

Some remarks are in order. In taking the chiral limit we have replaced $1/[(i\lambda + m)(i\lambda' + m)]$ with $\pi^2 \delta(\lambda) \delta(\lambda')$. Strictly speaking, in doing so we have tacitly assumed that the typical scale over which $T_2(\lambda, \lambda')$ varies is much larger than m. Whether this is true or not in actual QCD is a dynamical problem and must be checked separately.¹² We also remark that (4.29) cannot be extended to $T < T_c$ because of the infrared-singular behavior $T_2(\lambda, \lambda') \sim -\frac{\Sigma^2}{32\pi^4 F^4} \log |\lambda - \lambda'|$ for $|\lambda - \lambda'| \ll \lambda$ [51].

One might suspect that the correlation in the Dirac spectra revealed by (4.29) is at variance with the quasi-instanton picture proposed in [26] where a Poisson distribution of topological objects (i.e., dressed instantons called *quasi-instantons*) was argued at all $T > T_c$.¹³ In the limit $T \to \infty$, where the interaction is weak, the quasi-instanton gas is expected to reduce to the conventional dilute bare instanton gas [12]. Let us try to explain how they can be consistent with each other. The point is that the Poisson distribution of topological zero modes (quasi-instantons) does *not* necessarily mean the Poisson distribution of Dirac eigenvalues.

In the quasi-instanton picture, independently distributed topological charges are expected to generate small Dirac eigenvalues that can be described, to a good approximation, by a spectral density with a δ -peak at the origin. Let us discuss how to deal with this case explicitly within the present spectral analysis. The spectral density over a gauge field A_{μ} now assumes a form

$$\rho^A(\lambda) = c^A \delta(\lambda) + \tilde{\rho}^A(\lambda) \,, \tag{4.30}$$

where $\tilde{\rho}^A(\lambda)$ is the density of eigenvalues away from zero and $c^A \geq 0$ is an integer which is equal to the total number of topological objects, $N = N_+ + N_-$.¹⁴ If we assume that the density of nonzero eigenvalues $\tilde{\rho}^A(\lambda)$ is so small that the anomalous contribution f_A in (4.10) solely originates from the δ peak at the origin, then it follows that

$$\left\langle c^A \right\rangle = 2V_4 f_A m_u m_d \,. \tag{4.31}$$

 $^{^{12}}$ This smoothness condition is necessary to derive the original Banks-Casher relation, too [28].

¹³Topological objects similar to our quasi-instantons have been advocated for color-superconducting phases of QCD at high density [30, 54]. While quasi-instantons in hot QCD do not interact with each other [26], those in dense QCD weakly interact via exchange of (pseudo) Nambu-Goldstone modes [30, 54].

¹⁴Precisely speaking, the c_A modes consist of $|Q| = |N_+ - N_-|$ exact zero modes and $Min(N_+, N_-)$ chiral pairs of near-zero modes.

(In deriving this we have used $\int_0^\infty dx \ \delta(x) = 1/2$.) It is pleasing to see that (4.31) agrees with the quasi-instanton density derived in [26, section V].

Next, by plugging (4.30) into (4.17) we find

$$R_{\rm C}(\lambda,\lambda') = \frac{1}{V_4} \left[\left\langle (c^A)^2 \right\rangle - \left\langle c^A \right\rangle^2 \right] \delta(\lambda) \delta(\lambda') + \tilde{R}_{\rm C}(\lambda,\lambda') + \frac{1}{V_4} \delta(\lambda) \left[\left\langle c^A \tilde{\rho}^A(\lambda') \right\rangle - \left\langle c^A \right\rangle \left\langle \tilde{\rho}^A(\lambda') \right\rangle \right] + \frac{1}{V_4} \delta(\lambda') \left[\left\langle c^A \tilde{\rho}^A(\lambda) \right\rangle - \left\langle c^A \right\rangle \left\langle \tilde{\rho}^A(\lambda) \right\rangle \right], \qquad (4.32)$$

where $\tilde{R}_{\rm C}$ is the two-point connected function for eigenvalues away from zero. The last two lines will vanish if there is no correlation between zero and nonzero modes, which we assume. Then we substitute (4.32) into (4.24) to obtain

$$\chi_{\rm disc} = \frac{1}{V_4 m_u m_d} \left[\left\langle (c^A)^2 \right\rangle - \left\langle c^A \right\rangle^2 \right] + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\lambda' \frac{\tilde{R}_{\rm C}(\lambda, \lambda')}{(i\lambda + m_u)(i\lambda' + m_d)} \,. \tag{4.33}$$

As we have been assuming that the density of nonzero modes is sufficiently low, it follows that the second term can be neglected in the chiral limit compared to the first term. Then (4.31) and $\chi_{\text{disc}} = 2f_A$ (cf. (4.23)) imply

$$\langle (c^A)^2 \rangle - \langle c^A \rangle^2 = \langle c^A \rangle = 2V_4 f_A m_u m_d.$$
 (4.34)

This coincidence between the average and the variance of c_A indicates that c^A is Poisson distributed. This is indeed what the quasi-instanton picture in [26] suggests.

We mention that the Poisson statistics of topological objects was indeed observed in recent lattice data at $T = 1.5T_c$ [24]. However, in the real world, quasi-instantons will not be strictly noninteracting (due to the $\mathcal{O}(m^4)$ term in the free energy) and the δ -peak of the spectral density may not be sufficiently narrow to rigorously justify the above treatment. Also, the correlations between zero modes and nonzero modes will not be negligible in general. With these caveats in mind, we still believe that the quasi-instanton picture in [26] and the exact Banks-Casher-type relation (4.29) can be a useful starting point for a fuller analytical and numerical investigation of the Dirac spectrum in QCD at high temperature in future.

5 Comment on the Aoki-Fukaya-Taniguchi theorem

Contrary to our assumption that $f_A \neq 0$ for $T > T_c$, Aoki at al. [13] claim that, under certain assumptions, the violation of the U(1)_A symmetry is invisible in correlation functions of scalar and pseudoscalar quark bilinears for $T > T_c$ in two-flavor QCD. (This claim does not generalize to the vector-axial-vector sector, as we discussed in section 2.) There are two key assumptions in their analysis:¹⁵

¹⁵Aoki et al. used overlap fermions on the lattice to regularize UV divergences. This is not crucial in the following discussion, however.

1. The Dirac spectral density can be expanded in Taylor series

$$R_1(\lambda) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \langle \rho_n^A \rangle_m \frac{\lambda^n}{n!}$$
(5.1)

near the origin, with a radius of convergence that does not vanish in the chiral limit. In particular, there is no $\delta(\lambda)$ term. The notation $\langle \rho_n^A \rangle_m$ makes it clear that these coefficients are dependent on the quark mass m.

2. The expectation value $\langle O(A) \rangle_m$ of any *m*-independent observable O(A) is an analytic function of m^2 at $T > T_c$. (Here O(A) must be a functional of the gauge field only. It does not include fermionic observables, such as the chiral condensate. The quarks must be integrated out before this assumption is applied.)

It should be noted that none of the examples in (4.11) satisfies the first assumption.

Precisely speaking, ref. [13] assumes that the spectral density for a given gauge field A_{μ} can be expanded in Taylor series, while the above assumption 1 is only concerned with the spectral density averaged over all gauge fields.¹⁶

While their original proof [13] is rather involved, we now show that a much simpler proof of $f_A = 0$ for $N_f = 2$ based on our analysis in the former sections is possible. Namely, one can easily prove the following theorem:

Theorem. Under the two assumptions above, $f_A = 0$.

Proof. From (5.1) and the Banks-Casher relation [55], we have

$$\langle \overline{\psi}\psi\rangle \propto \lim_{m\to 0} \langle \rho_0^A \rangle_m \,.$$
 (5.2)

For $T > T_c$ where $\langle \overline{\psi} \psi \rangle = 0$, it must be that

$$\lim_{m \to 0} \langle \rho_0^A \rangle_m = 0.$$
 (5.3)

Since $\langle \rho_0^A \rangle_m$ is an analytic function of m^2 according to the second assumption, (5.3) means that $\langle \rho_0^A \rangle_m = \mathcal{O}(m^2)$; in particular

$$\lim_{m_u \to 0} \langle \rho_0^A \rangle_m = \mathcal{O}(m_d^2) \,. \tag{5.4}$$

On the other hand, it follows from (4.7) that

$$\int_{0}^{\Lambda} d\lambda \, \frac{2m_u}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} R_1(\lambda) = 2f_2 m_u + 2f_A m_d + \mathcal{O}(m^3) \,, \tag{5.5}$$

where a UV cutoff Λ was inserted. Note that, to derive this expression, we have only used (i) analyticity of the free energy and (ii) irrelevance of exact zero modes in the thermodynamic

¹⁶We thank Sinya Aoki for clarifying this point to us.

limit (as explained in section 3). If the limit $m_u \to 0$ is taken with m_d fixed, the r.h.s. of (5.5) converges to $2f_Am_d + \mathcal{O}(m_d^3)$.¹⁷

Next, we introduce an arbitrary scale $\varepsilon > 0$ which is smaller than the radius of convergence of (5.1) in the chiral limit. Then we split the l.h.s. of (5.5) as

$$\int_0^{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \ \frac{2m_u}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} R_1(\lambda) = \int_0^{\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}\lambda \ \frac{2m_u}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} R_1(\lambda) + \int_{\varepsilon}^{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \ \frac{2m_u}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} R_1(\lambda) \tag{5.6}$$

$$\leq \int_0^{\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}\lambda \; \frac{2m_u}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \langle \rho_n^A \rangle_m \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} \right] + \frac{2m_u}{\varepsilon^2} \int_{\varepsilon}^{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \; R_1(\lambda) \,, \quad (5.7)$$

where (5.1) was used. The second term in (5.7) is obviously $\mathcal{O}(m_u)$, whereas the first term is more nontrivial. To check its behavior near the chiral limit, we use

$$\int_0^\varepsilon \mathrm{d}\lambda \ \frac{\lambda}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} = -\log\frac{|m_u|}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(m_u^2)\,,\tag{5.8a}$$

$$\int_0^{\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \frac{\lambda^2}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} = \varepsilon - \frac{\pi}{2} |m_u| + \mathcal{O}(m_u^2) \,, \tag{5.8b}$$

$$\int_0^\varepsilon d\lambda \ \frac{\lambda^3}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} = \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2} + m_u^2 \log \frac{|m_u|}{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{O}(m_u^4) \,, \tag{5.8c}$$

$$\int_0^{\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}\lambda \, \frac{\lambda^n}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} = \frac{\varepsilon^{n-1}}{n-1} + \mathcal{O}(m_u^2) \qquad \text{for } n \ge 4.$$
(5.8d)

As the leading term in the limit $m_u \to 0$ comes from (5.8a), we deduce

$$\int_0^\varepsilon \mathrm{d}\lambda \; \frac{2m_u}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} \left[\sum_{n=0}^\infty \langle \rho_n^A \rangle_m \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} \right] = \int_0^\varepsilon \mathrm{d}\lambda \; \frac{2m_u}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} \langle \rho_0^A \rangle_m + \mathcal{O}(m_u \log m_u) \tag{5.9}$$

$$= \left[\pi + \mathcal{O}(m_u)\right] \langle \rho_0^A \rangle_m + \mathcal{O}(m_u \log m_u) \,. \tag{5.10}$$

Plugging this into (5.7), we observe that

$$\int_0^{\Lambda} \mathrm{d}\lambda \ \frac{2m_u}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} R_1(\lambda) \le \pi \langle \rho_0^A \rangle_m + \mathcal{O}(m_u \log m_u) \,. \tag{5.11}$$

Recalling (5.4), it is now clear that

$$\lim_{m_u \to 0} \int_0^\Lambda \mathrm{d}\lambda \; \frac{2m_u}{\lambda^2 + m_u^2} R_1(\lambda) = \mathcal{O}(m_d^2) \,. \tag{5.12}$$

This is to be compared with (5.5), which tells that the leading term in the limit $m_u \to 0$ is $2f_A m_d$. Thus $f_A = 0$ is concluded. This completes the proof.

This short proof is made possible by treating m_u and m_d as two independent variables, unlike the original one [13], where only the case of degenerate masses was considered. Of course, whether the two assumptions are correct or not in QCD is highly nontrivial. If

¹⁷The $\mathcal{O}(m_d^3)$ contribution comes from higher-order U(1)_A-violating terms (e.g., tr(MM^{\dagger}) det M + c.c.) in the free energy.

 f_A is non-vanishing in QCD, which has been assumed in the former sections, then one has to relax at least one of the two conditions above. Considering that recent lattice simulations [17, 24, 25] have demonstrated a singular peak structure in $R_1(\lambda)$ at small λ , it seems natural to abandon the Taylor expansion (5.1). This issue deserves further investigation.

6 Conclusions

In this paper, we derived some rigorous results on the violation of the U(1)_A symmetry in two-flavor QCD at $T > T_c$, which is characterized by the difference of chiral susceptibilities, $\chi_{\pi} - \chi_{\delta}$ (see (3.19)) and is parametrized by f_A (see (3.3) for the definition). We clarified how the different topological sectors conspire to violate the U(1)_A symmetry and how it varies with the spatial volume of the system. We demonstrated that any moment of the topological charge at $T > T_c$ can be obtained, once just a single parameter f_A is fixed. We also derived new spectral sum rules and a Banks-Casher-type relation that relate the anomaly strength f_A to statistical correlations in Dirac spectra. As a by-product of the sum rules, we found a simple proof of the Aoki-Fukaya-Taniguchi "theorem" on the effective restoration of the U(1)_A symmetry [13]. Since nontrivial assumptions are required to prove this theorem, we cannot conclude U(1)_A restoration in QCD yet. However, our simplified proof would hopefully serve to understand the importance of these assumptions more clearly.

All of our new exact relations can, in principle, be tested on the lattice. In particular, the relation (3.32) can be used to extract the value of f_A at $T > T_c$ even in a small volume with fixed topology (Q = 0). Finally, we note that determination of f_A should also be important from a phenomenological point of view, as it is related, through (3.9), to the temperature-dependent mass of the QCD axion — an input for the evolution of the axion density, which might account for the dark matter density of the universe; see, e.g., [56, 57] for recent works.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank S. Aoki, M. Buchoff, N. Christ, G. Cossu, K. Fukaya, M. Laine, S. Sharma and Y. Taniguchi for useful discussions and correspondences. This work was supported, in part, by the RIKEN iTHES Project, JSPS KAKENHI Grants Number 26887032, and MEXT-Supported Program for the Strategic Research Foundation at Private Universities, "Topological Science" (Grant Number S1511006).

A Tensor decomposition of anomalous correlators at finite temperature

Consider the anomalous three-point function in QCD at finite temperature T in momentum space,

$$T^{\sigma\rho\mu}(q,p,T) \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^4x \,\mathrm{d}^4y \,\,\mathrm{e}^{iqx+ipy} \left\langle j^{\sigma}(x)j^{\rho}(y)j^{A\mu}(0)\right\rangle,\tag{A.1}$$

where $j^{\mu} = \overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi$ is the vector current and $j^{A\mu} = \overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\gamma^{5}\psi$ is the axial current. The color and flavor degrees of freedom are suppressed for simplicity. We take the rest frame of the medium as $\eta^{\mu} = (1, \mathbf{0})$.

Itoyama and Mueller wrote down 30 tensor invariants composed of q^{μ} , p^{ν} , η^{κ} , or $\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ for $T^{\sigma\rho\mu}$ [4]. However, their expression is not complete; one can write down 30 more tensor invariants. We find that the most general decomposition for $T^{\sigma\rho\mu}$ is given by

$$\begin{split} T^{\sigma\rho\mu} &= A_{1}q_{\tau}\varepsilon^{\tau\sigma\rho\mu} + A_{2}p_{\tau}\varepsilon^{\tau\sigma\rho\mu} + A_{3}\eta_{\tau}\varepsilon^{\tau\sigma\rho\mu} \\ &+ A_{4}q^{\sigma}q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\rho\mu} + A_{5}p^{\sigma}q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\rho\mu} + A_{6}\eta^{\sigma}q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\rho\mu} \\ &+ A_{7}q^{\rho}q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{8}p^{\rho}q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{9}\eta^{\rho}q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} \\ &+ A_{10}q^{\sigma}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{11}p^{\sigma}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{12}\eta^{\sigma}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} \\ &+ A_{13}q^{\rho}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{14}p^{\rho}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{15}\eta^{\rho}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} \\ &+ A_{16}q^{\sigma}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{10}p^{\rho}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{10}\eta^{\rho}p_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} \\ &+ A_{16}q^{\sigma}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{20}p^{\rho}p_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{21}\eta^{\rho}p_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} \\ &+ A_{19}q^{\rho}p_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{20}p^{\rho}p_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + A_{21}\eta^{\rho}p_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} \\ &+ (A_{22}q^{\sigma}q^{\rho} + A_{23}p^{\sigma}q^{\rho} + A_{29}p^{\sigma}\eta^{\rho} + A_{30}\eta^{\sigma}\eta^{\rho} + A_{31}g^{\sigma\rho}]q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\eta_{\gamma}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\mu} \\ &+ A_{32}q^{\mu}q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\rho} + A_{33}p^{\mu}q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\rho} + A_{34}\eta^{\mu}q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\rho} \\ &+ A_{35}q^{\mu}q_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\rho} + A_{39}p^{\mu}p_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\rho} + A_{40}\eta^{\mu}p_{\alpha}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\rho} \\ &+ (A_{41}q^{\mu}q^{\rho} + A_{42}p^{\mu}q^{\rho} + A_{43}\eta^{\mu}q^{\rho} + A_{49}\eta^{\mu}\eta^{\rho} + A_{50}g^{\mu\rho}]q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\eta_{\gamma}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\sigma} \\ &+ (A_{51}q^{\sigma}q^{\mu} + A_{52}p^{\sigma}q^{\mu} + A_{58}\eta^{\sigma}\eta^{\mu} + A_{59}\eta^{\sigma}\eta^{\mu} + A_{60}g^{\sigma\mu}]q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}\eta_{\gamma}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\rho} \tag{A.2}$$

with coefficients $A_i \equiv A_i(q^2, p^2, k^2, q \cdot \eta, p \cdot \eta, T)$. The terms $A_{31,\dots,60}$ are new, which have been missed in [4] but are generally allowed by symmetries. It turns out that A_{34} , A_{37} , A_{40} , A_{43} , A_{46} , A_{48} , A_{49} , A_{53} , A_{57} , A_{58} , and A_{59} are not independent of the others appearing above and can be omitted without loss of generality.¹⁸ In particular, we need not consider tensor invariants whose axial-vector index μ is carried by η^{μ} . Therefore, there are 49 independent invariants in total.

B Another microscopic scaling

In (4.12), all dimensionful quantities are rescaled by $\sqrt{2V_4f_A}$. On the other hand, it is also allowed (from a mathematical point of view) to use $\sqrt{2V_4f_2}$ for rescaling. Defining

$$\rho_Q(\zeta;\mu_u,\mu_d) \equiv \lim_{V_4 \to \infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2V_4 f_2}} \left\langle \rho^A \left(\frac{\zeta}{\sqrt{2V_4 f_2}}\right) \Big|_{m_u = \frac{\mu_u}{\sqrt{2V_4 f_2}}, \ m_d = \frac{\mu_d}{\sqrt{2V_4 f_2}}} \right\rangle_Q , \tag{B.1}$$

¹⁸For example, there exists an identity for the A_{46} term,

 $q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}p^{\rho}\eta_{\gamma}\eta^{\mu}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\sigma} = -q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}p^{\rho}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + (p\cdot\eta)q_{\alpha}p^{\rho}\eta_{\beta}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + (q\cdot\eta)p_{\beta}p^{\rho}\eta_{\alpha}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\sigma\mu} + q_{\alpha}p_{\beta}p^{\rho}\eta_{\gamma}\eta^{\sigma}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\mu},$ (A.3) with which the A_{46} term can be expressed in terms of the A_{8} , A_{14} , A_{20} , and A_{27} terms.

we obtain from (4.5) a modified spectral relation

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\zeta \, \frac{1}{i\zeta + \mu_u} \rho_Q(\zeta; \mu_u, \mu_d) = \mu_u + \frac{f_A}{f_2} \mu_d \frac{I'_Q\left(\frac{f_A}{f_2} \mu_u \mu_d\right)}{I_Q\left(\frac{f_A}{f_2} \mu_u \mu_d\right)}.$$
 (B.2)

We suspect, however, that this scheme is precarious because f_2 is dominated by UVdivergent contributions from the perturbative Dirac spectra $R_1(\lambda) \sim \lambda^3$ which generally depends on the regularization scheme. In contrast, f_A is free from UV divergences (see appendix B in [49]). This leads us to consider the microscopic scaling by f_A as the most natural one.

C Derivation of (4.19)

The relation (4.19) for uncorrelated Dirac spectra can be easily shown as follows. With 2N Dirac eigenvalues $\{\pm i\lambda_n\}_{n=1}^N$ we have, from (4.1),

$$\left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda)\rho^{A}(\lambda')\right\rangle = \left\langle \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left\{ \delta(\lambda - \lambda_{k}) + \delta(\lambda + \lambda_{k}) \right\} \sum_{\ell=1}^{N} \left\{ \delta(\lambda' - \lambda_{\ell}) + \delta(\lambda' + \lambda_{\ell}) \right\} \right\rangle$$
(C.1)

$$= \left\langle \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left\{ \delta(\lambda - \lambda_k) + \delta(\lambda + \lambda_k) \right\} \left\{ \delta(\lambda' - \lambda_k) + \delta(\lambda' + \lambda_k) \right\} \right\rangle$$
$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left\langle \left\{ \delta(\lambda - \lambda_k) + \delta(\lambda + \lambda_k) \right\} \sum_{\ell \neq k} \left\{ \delta(\lambda' - \lambda_\ell) + \delta(\lambda' + \lambda_\ell) \right\} \right\rangle \quad (C.2)$$

$$= \left\{ \delta(\lambda - \lambda') + \delta(\lambda + \lambda') \right\} \left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda) \right\rangle \\ + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left\langle \delta(\lambda - \lambda_{k}) + \delta(\lambda + \lambda_{k}) \right\rangle \left\langle \sum_{\ell \neq k} \left\{ \delta(\lambda' - \lambda_{\ell}) + \delta(\lambda' + \lambda_{\ell}) \right\} \right\rangle.$$
(C.3)

In the last step we factorized the average, which is justified by the absence of correlations among different eigenvalues. Then, using the trivial identity

$$\left\langle \sum_{\ell \neq k} \left\{ \delta(\lambda' - \lambda_{\ell}) + \delta(\lambda' + \lambda_{\ell}) \right\} \right\rangle = \frac{N - 1}{N} \left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda') \right\rangle , \qquad (C.4)$$

we arrive at the desired formula

$$\left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda)\rho^{A}(\lambda')\right\rangle = \left\{\delta(\lambda-\lambda') + \delta(\lambda+\lambda')\right\} \left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda)\right\rangle + \frac{N-1}{N} \left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda)\right\rangle \left\langle \rho^{A}(\lambda')\right\rangle .$$
(C.5)

One can see by integrating over λ and λ' that both sides are normalized to $4N^2$ correctly.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] S.L. Adler, Axial vector vertex in spinor electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. **177** (1969) 2426 [INSPIRE].
- [2] G. 't Hooft, Symmetry Breaking Through Bell-Jackiw Anomalies, Phys. Rev. Lett. 37 (1976)
 8 [INSPIRE].
- [3] G. 't Hooft, Computation of the Quantum Effects Due to a Four-Dimensional Pseudoparticle, Phys. Rev. D 14 (1976) 3432 [Erratum ibid. D 18 (1978) 2199] [INSPIRE].
- [4] H. Itoyama and A.H. Mueller, The Axial Anomaly at Finite Temperature, Nucl. Phys. B 218 (1983) 349 [INSPIRE].
- [5] E.V. Shuryak, Which chiral symmetry is restored in hot QCD?, Comments Nucl. Part. Phys. 21 (1994) 235 [hep-ph/9310253] [INSPIRE].
- [6] R.D. Pisarski and F. Wilczek, Remarks on the Chiral Phase Transition in Chromodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 29 (1984) 338 [INSPIRE].
- T.D. Cohen, The High temperature phase of QCD and U(1)_A symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996) 1867 [hep-ph/9601216] [INSPIRE].
- [8] N.J. Evans, S.D.H. Hsu and M. Schwetz, Topological charge and U(1)_A symmetry in the high temperature phase of QCD, Phys. Lett. B 375 (1996) 262 [hep-ph/9601361] [INSPIRE].
- [9] S.H. Lee and T. Hatsuda, $U_A(1)$ symmetry restoration in QCD with N_f flavors, Phys. Rev. **D** 54 (1996) 1871 [hep-ph/9601373] [INSPIRE].
- [10] M. Laine and M. Vepsäläinen, Mesonic correlation lengths in high temperature QCD, JHEP
 02 (2004) 004 [hep-ph/0311268] [INSPIRE].
- [11] G.V. Dunne and A. Kovner, $U_A(1)$ Anomaly at high temperature: the scalar-pseudoscalar splitting in QCD, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 065014 [arXiv:1004.1075] [INSPIRE].
- [12] D.J. Gross, R.D. Pisarski and L.G. Yaffe, QCD and Instantons at Finite Temperature, Rev. Mod. Phys. 53 (1981) 43 [INSPIRE].
- S. Aoki, H. Fukaya and Y. Taniguchi, Chiral symmetry restoration, eigenvalue density of Dirac operator and axial U(1) anomaly at finite temperature, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 114512
 [arXiv:1209.2061] [INSPIRE].
- [14] C.W. Bernard et al., Which chiral symmetry is restored in high temperature QCD?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 78 (1997) 598 [hep-lat/9611031] [INSPIRE].
- [15] S. Chandrasekharan, D. Chen, N.H. Christ, W.-J. Lee, R. Mawhinney and P.M. Vranas, Anomalous chiral symmetry breaking above the QCD phase transition, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (1999) 2463 [hep-lat/9807018] [INSPIRE].
- [16] G. Cossu et al., Finite temperature study of the axial U(1) symmetry on the lattice with overlap fermion formulation, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 114514 [arXiv:1304.6145] [INSPIRE].
- [17] HOTQCD collaboration, A. Bazavov et al., The chiral transition and U(1)_A symmetry restoration from lattice QCD using Domain Wall Fermions, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 094503
 [arXiv:1205.3535] [INSPIRE].
- [18] TWQCD collaboration, T.-W. Chiu et al., Chiral symmetry and axial U(1) symmetry in finite temperature QCD with domain-wall fermion, PoS(LATTICE 2013)165
 [arXiv:1311.6220] [INSPIRE].

- [19] JLQCD collaboration, G. Cossu et al., Axial U(1) symmetry at finite temperature with Möbius domain-wall fermions, PoS(LATTICE2014)210 [arXiv:1412.5703] [INSPIRE].
- [20] A. Tomiya, G. Cossu, H. Fukaya, S. Hashimoto and J. Noaki, Effects of near-zero Dirac eigenmodes on axial U(1) symmetry at finite temperature, PoS(LATTICE2014)211 [arXiv:1412.7306] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Cheng et al., Meson screening masses from lattice QCD with two light and the strange quark, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1564 [arXiv:1010.1216] [INSPIRE].
- [22] H. Ohno, U.M. Heller, F. Karsch and S. Mukherjee, Eigenvalue distribution of the Dirac operator at finite temperature with (2+1)-flavor dynamical quarks using the HISQ action, PoS(LATTICE 2011)210 [arXiv:1111.1939] [INSPIRE].
- [23] H. Ohno, U.M. Heller, F. Karsch and S. Mukherjee, $U_A(1)$ breaking at finite temperature from the Dirac spectrum with the dynamical HISQ action, PoS(LATTICE 2012)095 [arXiv:1211.2591] [INSPIRE].
- [24] V. Dick, F. Karsch, E. Laermann, S. Mukherjee and S. Sharma, *Microscopic origin of* $U_A(1)$ symmetry violation in the high temperature phase of QCD, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 094504 [arXiv:1502.06190] [INSPIRE].
- [25] M.I. Buchoff et al., QCD chiral transition, U(1)_A symmetry and the Dirac spectrum using domain wall fermions, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 054514 [arXiv:1309.4149] [INSPIRE].
- [26] T. Kanazawa and N. Yamamoto, Quasi-instantons in QCD with chiral symmetry restoration, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 105015 [arXiv:1410.3614] [INSPIRE].
- [27] J.I. Kapusta and C. Gale, Finite-temperature field theory: Principles and applications, Cambridge University Press, (2006).
- [28] H. Leutwyler and A.V. Smilga, Spectrum of Dirac operator and role of winding number in QCD, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 5607 [INSPIRE].
- [29] S. Aoki, H. Fukaya, S. Hashimoto and T. Onogi, Finite volume QCD at fixed topological charge, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 054508 [arXiv:0707.0396] [INSPIRE].
- [30] D.T. Son, M.A. Stephanov and A.R. Zhitnitsky, Instanton interactions in dense matter QCD, Phys. Lett. B 510 (2001) 167 [hep-ph/0103099] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Kanazawa, T. Wettig and N. Yamamoto, Singular values of the Dirac operator in dense QCD-like theories, JHEP 12 (2011) 007 [arXiv:1110.5858] [INSPIRE].
- [32] J.J.M. Verbaarschot and T. Wettig, Dirac spectrum of one-flavor QCD at $\theta = 0$ and continuity of the chiral condensate, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 116004 [arXiv:1407.8393] [INSPIRE].
- [33] R. Brower, S. Chandrasekharan, J.W. Negele and U.J. Wiese, QCD at fixed topology, Phys. Lett. B 560 (2003) 64 [hep-lat/0302005] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S. Chandrasekharan and N.H. Christ, Dirac spectrum, axial anomaly and the QCD chiral phase transition, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 47 (1996) 527 [hep-lat/9509095] [INSPIRE].

- [35] J.B. Kogut, J.F. Lagae and D.K. Sinclair, Topology, fermionic zero modes and flavor singlet correlators in finite temperature QCD, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 054504 [hep-lat/9801020]
 [INSPIRE].
- [36] R.G. Edwards, U.M. Heller, J.E. Kiskis and R. Narayanan, Chiral condensate in the deconfined phase of quenched gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 074504 [hep-lat/9910041] [INSPIRE].
- [37] F. Farchioni, P. de Forcrand, I. Hip, C.B. Lang and K. Splittorff, Microscopic universality and the chiral phase transition in two flavor QCD, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 014503 [hep-lat/9912004] [INSPIRE].
- [38] P.H. Damgaard, U.M. Heller, R. Niclasen and K. Rummukainen, Low lying eigenvalues of the QCD Dirac operator at finite temperature, Nucl. Phys. B 583 (2000) 347 [hep-lat/0003021] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C. Gattringer, M. Gockeler, P.E.L. Rakow, S. Schaefer and A. Schaefer, A comprehensive picture of topological excitations in finite temperature lattice QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 618 (2001) 205 [hep-lat/0105023] [INSPIRE].
- [40] S. Sharma, V. Dick, F. Karsch, E. Laermann and S. Mukherjee, The U(1)_A anomaly in high temperature QCD with chiral fermions on the lattice, arXiv:1510.03930 [INSPIRE].
- [41] JLQCD collaboration, G. Cossu, H. Fukaya, S. Hashimoto and A. Tomiya, Violation of chirality of the Möbius domain-wall Dirac operator from the eigenmodes, arXiv:1510.07395 [INSPIRE].
- [42] JLQCD collaboration, G. Cossu et al., On the axial U(1) symmetry at finite temperature, arXiv:1511.05691 [INSPIRE].
- [43] J.J.M. Verbaarschot and T. Wettig, Random matrix theory and chiral symmetry in QCD, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 50 (2000) 343 [hep-ph/0003017] [INSPIRE].
- [44] N. Yamamoto and T. Kanazawa, Dense QCD in a Finite Volume, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 032001 [arXiv:0902.4533] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T. Kanazawa, Dirac Spectra in Dense QCD, Springer Japan, Springer Theses 124 (2013).
- [46] T. Kanazawa, T. Wettig and N. Yamamoto, Chiral Lagrangian and spectral sum rules for dense two-color QCD, JHEP 08 (2009) 003 [arXiv:0906.3579] [INSPIRE].
- [47] T. Kanazawa, T. Wettig and N. Yamamoto, Chiral random matrix theory for two-color QCD at high density, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 081701 [arXiv:0912.4999] [INSPIRE].
- [48] J. Stern, Two alternatives of spontaneous chiral symmetry breaking in QCD, Submitted to: Phys. Rev. Lett. (1998) [hep-ph/9801282] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S. Descotes-Genon and J. Stern, Finite volume analysis of N(f) induced chiral phase transitions, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 054011 [hep-ph/9912234] [INSPIRE].
- [50] T. Kanazawa, Chiral symmetry breaking with no bilinear condensate revisited, JHEP 10 (2015) 010 [arXiv:1507.06376] [INSPIRE].
- [51] D. Toublan and J.J.M. Verbaarschot, Statistical properties of the spectrum of the QCD Dirac operator at low-energy, Nucl. Phys. B 603 (2001) 343 [hep-th/0012144] [INSPIRE].
- [52] T. Guhr, Transitions toward quantum chaos: With supersymmetry from Poisson to Gauss, Annals Phys. 250 (1996) 145 [INSPIRE].

- [53] T. Guhr, A. Müller-Groeling and H.A. Weidenmuller, Random matrix theories in quantum physics: Common concepts, Phys. Rept. 299 (1998) 189 [cond-mat/9707301] [INSPIRE].
- [54] N. Yamamoto, Instanton-induced crossover in dense QCD, JHEP 12 (2008) 060 [arXiv:0810.2293] [INSPIRE].
- [55] T. Banks and A. Casher, Chiral Symmetry Breaking in Confining Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 169 (1980) 103 [INSPIRE].
- [56] E. Berkowitz, M.I. Buchoff and E. Rinaldi, Lattice QCD input for axion cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 034507 [arXiv:1505.07455] [INSPIRE].
- [57] R. Kitano and N. Yamada, Topology in QCD and the axion abundance, JHEP 10 (2015) 136 [arXiv:1506.00370] [INSPIRE].